
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, AUGUST 22, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

AGENDA 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Anyone wishing to address the Planning and Zoning Board regarding any topic on this evening's agenda 

is requested to complete a card available at the Clerk's desk. Speakers are respectfully requested to limit 

their comments to three (3) minutes. 

The Planning and Zoning Board prohibits the use of cell phones and pagers which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of Law Enforcement, Fire and Rescue, or Health Care Professionals 

on call. Persons in violation will be requested to leave the meeting. 

ROLL CALL 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Review and approval of the July 27, 2023 minutes. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning for property located at the Southeast 

corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 15 acres of parcel #016541-000-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use 

                                                      to:   Industrial  

Zoning Amendment:                    from: C-2, General Commercial 

                                                     to:      M-2, Heavy Industrial 

3. Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning for property located at the Southeast 

corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 43.12 acres of a portion of parcel #016541-003-

00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use 

                                                      to:   Industrial  

Zoning Amendment:                    from: C-2, General Commercial  

                                                     to:      M-2, Heavy Industrial 

ACTION ITEMS 

Page 1



August 22, 2023 Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 

BOARD BUSINESS 

Board Discussion / Comments 

Staff Comments 

ADJOURNMENT  

NEXT MEETING: TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER  26, 2023 AT 5:00PM 

 

Minutes of the Planning & Zoning Board Meeting can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office. The 

Minutes are recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim.  

Persons requiring a verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the 

recordings, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting. The cost of duplication and/or court 

reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

ADA NOTICE  

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a 

Planning and Zoning Board member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion 

regarding a quasi-judicial decision by the Planning and Zoning Board. The exchanges must be disclosed 

by the Planning and Zoning Board. 

 

Page 2



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JULY 25, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Anyone wishing to address the Planning and Zoning Board regarding any topic on this evening's agenda 

is requested to complete a card available at the Clerk's desk. Speakers are respectfully requested to limit 

their comments to three (3) minutes. 

The Planning and Zoning Board prohibits the use of cell phones and pagers which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of Law Enforcement, Fire and Rescue, or Health Care Professionals 

on call. Persons in violation will be requested to leave the meeting. 

ROLL CALL 

Meeting was called to order at 5:00pm by Chairman Hall.  

PRESENT 

Board Member Henrietta Francis, Board Member Joshua Hobbs (late 5:10pm), Vice Chairman Josh 

Danley, Chairman Justin Hall 

 

ABSENT 

Board Member Brian Cook 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Approval of Minutes from the June 27, 2023 Meeting 

Motion to approve the minutes from the June 27, 2023 Meeting. 

Motion made by Board Member Francis, Seconded by Vice Chairman Danley. 

Voting Yea: Board Member Francis, Board Member Hobbs, Vice Chairman Danley, 

Chairman Hall 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Ordinance O-23-2023 regarding proposed Landscape Ordinance Revisions 

Michael Daniels, Development Services Director, presented the proposed changes to the 

Board. He highlighted the proposal to expand the guidelines for landscape buffers against 

incompatible uses. In addition, he presented a proposal to create a protected canopy roadway 

on St. Johns Avenue between Forest St and Clay St.   

Page 3

Item #  1.



July 25, 2023 Minutes Page 2 of 4 

 

 

Chairman Hall opened the public hearing. Chris Gay of the Citizens Advisory Committee 

noted that the Florida Scenic Highway program exists at the State level. He would like to see 

historic tress protected.  

Chairman Hall closed the public hearing.  

Chairman Hall asked who would be the one to maintain the tress on the canopy street. Mr. 

Daniels responded that each property owner would be tasked with maintaining those trees. 

Further discussion will need to be held regarding a permitting requirement for 

trimming/removing of those trees within the border of the canopy street.  

Staff recommended we hold off on taking to Council until August 15th to give Development 

Services time to notify the property owners along that portion of St. Johns Avenue.  

Chairman Hobbs stated that he was not comfortable with the wording of removing a tree 

being "unlawful". He also asked if owners can opt out of the canopy street. Mr. Daniels said 

that the value of the canopy road is the whole area and that's why it's important to hear from 

the owners at the public hearing.  

Motion made by Board Member Francis, Seconded by Vice Chairman Danley to 

recommend the Ordinance O-23-2023 regarding proposed Landscape Ordinance Revisions 

to City Council. 

Voting Yea: Board Member Francis, Vice Chairman Danley, Chairman Hall 

Voting Nay: Board Member Hobbs 

 

3. Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning for property located at the Southeast 

corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 15 acres of parcel #016541-000-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use to: Industrial  

Zoning Amendment:                    from: C-2 to: M-2 

Michael Daniels, Development Services Director, presented the request to the board. The 

review process brought about  some environmental and building concerns that need to be 

addressed prior to moving forward. Staff recommended that the request be tabled to August 

22, 2023. 

Chairman Hall opened the public hearing.  

Chairman Hall closed the public hearing.  

Motion made by Vice Chairman Danley, Seconded by Board Member Hobbs to table until 

August 22, 2023 

Voting Yea: Board Member Francis, Board Member Hobbs, Vice Chairman Danley, 

Chairman Hall 

 

Page 4

Item #  1.



July 25, 2023 Minutes Page 3 of 4 

 

 

4. Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning for property located at the Southeast 

corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 43.12 acres of parcel #016541-003-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use to: Industrial  

Zoning Amendment:                    from: C-2 to: M-2 

Michael Daniels, Development Services Director, presented the request to the board. This 

was a companion application to the previous item discussed. Staff recommended that the 

request also be tabled to August 22, 2023. 

Chairman Hall opened the public hearing. 

Chairman Hall closed the public hearing. 

Motion made by Board Member Hobbs, Seconded by Board Member Francis to table until 

August 22, 2023. 

Voting Yea: Board Member Francis, Board Member Hobbs, Vice Chairman Danley, 

Chairman Hall 

 

ACTION ITEMS 

5. Site Development Plan for 57,000 Warehouse located in the 1300 Block of Energy Cove Court 

for approximately 3.6 acres of parcel #016562-000-00. 

Michael Daniels, Development Services Director, presented the site development plan 

provided by the applicant, Tocoi Engineering. This property is currently in the process of a 

rezoning and future land use amendment. The board has question on the completeness of the 

application and further discussion was made regarding the full plans provided and the Site 

Development Review Team has performed a review.  

Motion made by Board Member Francis, Seconded by Board Member Hobbs to recommend 

the approval of the site development plan of approximately 3.6 acres of parcel #016562-000-

00 subject to staff comments to City Council.  

Voting Yea: Board Member Francis, Board Member Hobbs, Vice Chairman Danley, 

Chairman Hall 

 

BOARD BUSINESS 

Mr. Daniels gave a brief update on the Rivers House project. Council's recommendation was to create 

requests for proposal and send those out to bid and staff wanted to give an update to the board.   

Mr. Daniels also reminded the board about the Form Based Code Workshop on Tuesday, August 8, 

2023. 

Page 5

Item #  1.



July 25, 2023 Minutes Page 4 of 4 

 

 

 

Board Discussion / Comments 

Staff Comments 

ADJOURNMENT by Chairman Hall at 5:56pm 

NEXT MEETING: Tuesday, August 22nd at 5:00pm 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Justin Hall, Chairman 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Lyndie Knowles, Development Services Rep.  

 

Page 6

Item #  1.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: August 22, 2023 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning for property located at the 

Southeast corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 15 acres of parcel #016541-000-

00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use 

                                                      to:   Industrial  

Zoning Amendment:                    from: C-2, General Commercial 

                                                     to:      M-2, Heavy Industrial 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: David Smith, Louis L Huntley 

Enterprises 
OWNER: Louis Ward Huntley  

PROPERTY LOCATION: 965 Leonard C Taylor Highway 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016451-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-23-006 & ZON-23-0007 

CURRENT ZONING:  C-2 General Commercial  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Mixed Use 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 SOUTH: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST: FLU:  MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 
 

Page 7

Item #  2.



BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Future Land Use and Zoning Change for the subject property for 

the construction of industrial development.  There is an existing building on the site that had been 

used for manufacturing plant which has been closed in 2010.  However industrial businesses such 

as Woodford Plywood, Meever USA and Front Runner Boatworks have been located at this 

location as nonconforming industrial uses.   

The property is surrounded by the HLM property on all sides.  Property access to SR 16 is provided 

through a vehicular and utility easement.   

The following violations have been identified on the property: 

 Site work has been initiated without securing the appropriate building permits. 

 The site is located in a floodplain no site work can be done on the site complies with the 

all federal requirements. 

No additional work can be constructed on the site until the site is in full compliance with City 

Code, State and Federal Regulations.    

To the south and east of the property there is an extension of the CSX rail line that is owned by 

the City and has fallen into disrepair.  The applicant has expressed an interest in entering an 

agreement with the City to repair the existing Rail line and add a Railroad spur to serve potential 

future Industrial users on the property.  These actions would require a separate agreement to be 

approved by the City.   

All proposed new development will be required to meet the City’s Site Development Plan code 

requirements and be submitted to the Planning Commission and City Council for approval. 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be 

served by the City’s sanitation services.  

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following future land use and rezoning requests: 

 

Application # Description 

FLUS-23-006 Future Land Use Application from Mixed Use to Industrial 

ZON-23-007 Rezoning Application from C-2 General Business to M-2 Heavy 

Industrial 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8

Item #  2.



 

 

 

 

Aerial  

 

 

 

Page 9

Item #  2.



 

 

 

Environmental Conditions Analysis  

Maps of Environmental Features 

Wetlands 

There are Riverines or Riparian wetlands located in the northeast area of the property. 

 

. 

 

Page 10

Item #  2.



 

 

 

 

Floodplain 

A portion of the subject property is located in Flood zone A which are areas subject to inundation 

by the 1 percent annual chance flood event generally determined using approximate methodologies.  

 

 

  

 

 

Page 11

Item #  2.



 

Additional Environmental Issues: 

 

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) became aware of groundwater 

contamination on the property in July 2015 and subsequently provided a Declaration of Restrictive 

Covenant on the property which was recorded with the Clay County Clerk of Court in March 2020 

and is attached for your review.  Pursuant to FDEP’s investigation chlorinated hydorcarbons were 

detected on the subject property and adjacent property as set forth in Exhibit D of the 1st Amendment 

to the DRCGCS Town Center which is enclosed. In April of 2022, a Conditional Site Rehabilitation 

Completion Order was approved by FDEP that limited the contamination issue to the groundwater.  

As a result, the following improvements are prohibited without meeting the requirements set forth 

in the Completion Order: 

a) Dewatering activities 

b) Stormwater management systems (including swales and ditches) can be 

constructed. 

c) Drinking, irrigation or monitoring well installation.  

 

 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is located within Zone 4 of the wellfield protection zone.  They are outside of the 

500’ requirement which limits the types of uses on this site.   

 

Page 12

Item #  2.



 
 

URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, identifies 

13 primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these 

indicators shall consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features 

and characteristics unique to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop 

as low-intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation to Industrial.  

The area along the US 17 and SR 16 Corridors will remain as Mixed Use allowing for a mix of uses 

but at the same time allowing for increased employment opportunities.    

(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas 

at substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are 

available and suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the US 17 Corridor that is currently Land 

Used and Zoned for predominantly commercial/industrial development The project site is located 

within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban service areas. 

Page 13

Item #  2.



(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns 

generally emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed Industrial designation allows for industrial uses, thereby 

providing a balance of uses to complement the Mixed Use designation adjacent along the US 17 and 

SR 16 Corridors. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, 

rivers, shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site has existing wetlands, floodplains and is within the wellhead 

protection area.  In order to ensure that natural resources are protected, a site specific land use 

amendment requiring future development to comply with Development Restrictions regarding 

protecting groundwater.      

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and 

prime farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing 

development, the proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services. 

(VII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, 

money, and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable 

water, sanitary sewer, stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and 

emergency response, and general government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with existing 

public facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and 

services and shall mitigate for the increase in time, money, and energy for providing and maintaining 

these facilities through the payment of impact fees for utilities including roads, government services, 

and on-going ad valorem taxes.   

(VIII) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban 

service areas and is not adjacent to any rural zoned properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and 

communities.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will not discourage infill development and is 

located within an existing developed area. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located will allow for industrial uses in an area that is 

suitable for industrial development.   

Page 14

Item #  2.



(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site shall have access via an easement to SR 16.   

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also 

establishes eight (8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed 

to not be considered urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form 

criteria, and an evaluation of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The 

applicant has provided an analysis of the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the 

application materials and contends that the proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl 

by showing it meets four of the eight urban form criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the 

community in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources and 

ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric 

urban service areas which have been planned to accommodate growth which allows for the 

preservation of the natural resources of outlying areas.  In addition, all new development shall 

comply with the City’s landscaping, tree preservation and resource protection ordinances.    

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and 

services.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will result 

in utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a mix 

of uses at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a multimodal 

transportation system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: Sidewalks are provided along US 17 and shall be provided as part of future 

development along SR 16.    

Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in areas 

further outside of the urban areas. 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban 

areas reduces the pressure to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Page 15

Item #  2.



Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the 

nonresidential needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of 

nonresidential uses. The proposed development will provide additional employment opportunities 

to the residents of this community, providing a balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing 

or planned development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an 

innovative development pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in s. 

163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the 

Future Land Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate 

use of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and 

welfare of the public. 

Objective 1.1.  New development and Redevelopment shall directed to appropriate areas of the 

City. 

e. Industrial (IND): This FLUC is intended to accommodate primarily light and heavy 

manufacturing, distribution, and storage, in addition to heavy commercial and professional office 

uses.  Maximum Intensity: 0.6 FAR 

Objective 1.2.  The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable land use pattern by preventing the 

proliferation of urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision of services, and implementing smart 

growth principles. 

Policy 1.2.1. The location and timing of new development and the issuance of permits shall be 

coordinated with the availability of public facilities through implementation of various smart 

growth management measures. 

Policy 1.2.6. The City shall require new development to connect to the City’s centralized potable 

water and sanitary sewer system. 

Policy 1.2.7. The City shall condition development orders upon the provision of essential facilities 

and services which meet and would not result in the failure of each service’s established level of 

service (LOS). 

Policy 1.2.8. The City shall ensure the availability and protection of lands designated for the future 

expansion of public infrastructure.  

Objective 1.4.  The City shall strive to preserve its natural resources. 

Page 16

Item #  2.



Policy 1.4.5. Development orders shall not be issued in areas where soils conditions are not adequate 

for building construction, drainage, roads, and other development-related facilities. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital 

Improvements Element to ensure that acceptable traffic conditions are maintained*.  

*The City is in the process of implementing a mobility plan and fee for new development to ensure 

that needed transportation improvements are provided to ensure that the City is addressing 

transportation congestion issues and providing for multimodal improvements.   

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual published 

by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that the 

proposed development will produce or attract. 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Objective 4.2.  The City shall continue to provide safe and adequate sanitary sewer service to all 

existing and future developments located within the City limits. Existing Sanitary Sewer 

deficiencies shall be scheduled for correction in the Capital Improvements Element. 

Policy 4.2.1 All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection  

Policy 4.2.1. All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection.  

Objective 4.6.  Future Development shall be required to connect with central water systems and 

provide stormwater facilities which maximize the use of existing facilities and discourage urban 

sprawl. 

Policy 4.6.1. The City shall annually monitor the condition of level of service standards for solid 

waste, potable water, wastewater, and stormwater facilities. The Planning and Zoning Department 

shall be assigned the task of reviewing all development orders to determine their current and future 

impacts on the capacities of existing public facilities.  

Policy 4.6.2. No permit shall be issued for new development which will result in an increase in 

demand on deficient capacities or if adequate facility capacities for solid waste, potable water, 

sanitary sewer, and drainage facilities are not available prior to or concurrent with the 

development's impact. 
 

CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

Policy 5.3.2.  The City shall ensure that public potable water wellfields will be located in areas 

where they will be least impacted by development and contamination. 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COORDINATION ELEMENT 

Page 17

Item #  2.



Objective 7.1.  The City shall act to ensure that all planning and development related activities are 

coordinated with the comprehensive plan or any other plans of Clay County, the Northeast Florida 

Regional Council (NEFRC), and the School Board. 

Policy 7.1.1.  Maintain procedures to review comprehensive plans and comprehensive plan 

amendments of the County and the plans of the Clay County School Board and the Northeast 

Florida Regional Council. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENT 

Policy 9.1.6. Continue collaboration through the Clay County EDC and the Clay County Chamber 

of Commerce with Florida Chamber of Commerce and Enterprise Florida Inc for sector strategy 

development, regional incentive updates and statewide attraction and site selection programs. 

Objective 9.5.  The City shall collaborate economic development efforts with state, regional and 

local partners to foster a system of enhanced communication and partnerships within the Northeast 

Florida region.    F 

PRIVATE PROPERTY RIGHTS ELEMENT 

Objective 10.1.  The City shall recognize that each property owner has constitutionally protected 

private property rights and shall consider these property rights in local decision making by 

referring to a set of statement of rights identified in this element. A 

Policy 10.1.1. The following rights shall be considered in local decision making:  

a. The right of a property owner to physically possess and control his or her interests in the 

property, including easements, leases, or mineral rights.  

b. The right of a property owner to use, maintain, develop, and improve his or her property for 

personal use or for the use of any other person, subject to state law and local ordinances.  

c. The right of the property owner to privacy and to exclude others from the property to protect the 

owner's possessions and property.  

d. The right of a property owner to dispose of his or her property through sale or gift. and 

discourage urban sp 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Industrial 392,040 6.83 2,678 .82 321 .85 333 

Shopping 
Center**  

653,400 42.70 27,900 .96 627 3.71 2,424 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Page 18

Item #  2.



Conclusion: There are no development plans at this time as a result, the traffic impacts were 

calculated two:  the maximum floor area ratio (1.0)* based on the assumption of a Shopping Center 

at a maximum FAR of 1.0 per the comprehensive plan requirements and a separate calculation was 

made based on a maximum of a .6 FAR for an Industrial Park.  The proposed change in Land Use 

shows a much lower impact on the adjacent roadways.   

 

Potable Water Impacts 

Industrial 

 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                                71,874 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,115,126 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 

 

 
Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential industrial uses.  As shown in the table above, 

there is adequate capacity this use type.  The City has existing water lines installed at this location.     

Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 
Commercial 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2    71,874 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -321,874 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 
Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential commercial or residential uses.  The project site 

is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the table above, when 

factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to handle the 

estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the Rookery 

Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project.  At such 

time, the Rookery capacity will be served by a new wastewater treatment facility provided by the Clay 

County Utility Authority.  Once the facility is built, the capacity temporarily reserved to the Rookery shall 

be available for this development.  In addition, the remaining demand will be sent via force main to the 

Harbor Road plant, where the City has an excess capacity of approximately 700,000 gallons per day.  As a 

result, there is adequate capacity.  The City has existing sewer lines at this location.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

 

Commercial  

Page 19

Item #  2.



System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 None 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs does not provide commercial sanitation services, prospective sanitation collection 

franchisees shall comply with City Code Section 66-10. 
 
Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a 

minimum of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management 

facility. For commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial 

locations must instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 
 

 

 

Compatibility 

The Subject Property in addition to the companion application (FLUS-23-006 and ZON-23-007) 

are located adjacent to a Mixed Use Land Use District to the north and west and to the east the 

property is the Reynolds AirPark which is zoned Industrial.  The properties to the south along Hall 

Park Road is also Zoned Industrial.   In addition, the subject property is in close proximity to a 

Railroad which is conducive for Industrial Development and had previously been used as a 

Manufacturing facility.  The property along US 17 and SR 16 shall remain as commercial 

properties in keeping with providing a commercial gateway into the City.  As a result, the proposed 

Future Land Use and Zoning application is suitable for the property and compatible with the 

surrounding uses.   

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20

Item #  2.



Existing Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 21

Item #  2.



Proposed Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

Item #  2.



Existing Zoning 
 

  

Page 23

Item #  2.



Proposed Zoning 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24

Item #  2.



 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use designation from Mixed Use to Industrial  

and the Zoning Amendment from C-2, General Commercial to M-2 Heavy Industrial. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use  

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-28-2023, to amend the Future Land Use of 

the property described therein from Mixed Use to Industrial 

 

Zoning 

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-29-2023 to amend the Zoning of the 

property described therein from C-2, General Commercial to M-2 Heavy Industrial.   

 

 

Page 25

Item #  2.



Page 26

Item #  2.



Page 27

Item #  2.



Page 28

Item #  2.



Page 29

Item #  2.



Page 30

Item #  2.



Page 31

Item #  2.



Page 32

Item #  2.



Page 33

Item #  2.



Page 34

Item #  2.



Page 35

Item #  2.



Page 36

Item #  2.



Page 37

Item #  2.



Page 38

Item #  2.



Page 39

Item #  2.



Page 40

Item #  2.



Page 41

Item #  2.



Page 42

Item #  2.



Page 43

Item #  2.



Page 44

Item #  2.



Page 45

Item #  2.



Page 46

Item #  2.



Page 47

Item #  2.



Page 48

Item #  2.



Page 49

Item #  2.



Page 50

Item #  2.



Page 51

Item #  2.



Page 52

Item #  2.



Page 53

Item #  2.



Page 54

Item #  2.



Page 55

Item #  2.



Page 56

Item #  2.



Page 57

Item #  2.



Page 58

Item #  2.



Page 59

Item #  2.



Page 60

Item #  2.



Page 61

Item #  2.



Page 62

Item #  2.



Page 63

Item #  2.



Page 64

Item #  2.



Page 65

Item #  2.



Page 66

Item #  2.



Page 67

Item #  2.



Page 68

Item #  2.



Page 69

Item #  2.



Page 70

Item #  2.



Page 71

Item #  2.



Page 72

Item #  2.



Page 73

Item #  2.



Page 74

Item #  2.



Page 75

Item #  2.



Page 76

Item #  2.



Page 77

Item #  2.



Page 78

Item #  2.



Page 79

Item #  2.



Page 80

Item #  2.



Page 81

Item #  2.



Page 82

Item #  2.



Page 83

Item #  2.



Page 84

Item #  2.



Page 85

Item #  2.



Page 86

Item #  2.



Page 87

Item #  2.



Page 88

Item #  2.



Page 89

Item #  2.



Page 90

Item #  2.



Page 91

Item #  2.



Page 92

Item #  2.



Page 93

Item #  2.



Page 94

Item #  2.



Page 95

Item #  2.



Page 96

Item #  2.



Page 97

Item #  2.



Page 98

Item #  2.



Page 99

Item #  2.



Page 100

Item #  2.



Page 101

Item #  2.



Page 102

Item #  2.



Page 103

Item #  2.



Page 104

Item #  2.



Page 105

Item #  2.



Page 106

Item #  2.



Page 107

Item #  2.



Page 108

Item #  2.



Page 109

Item #  2.



Page 110

Item #  2.



Page 111

Item #  2.



Page 112

Item #  2.



Page 113

Item #  2.



Page 114

Item #  2.



Page 115

Item #  2.



Page 116

Item #  2.



Page 117

Item #  2.



Page 118

Item #  2.



Page 119

Item #  2.



Page 120

Item #  2.



Page 121

Item #  2.



Page 122

Item #  2.



Page 123

Item #  2.



Page 124

Item #  2.



Page 125

Item #  2.



Page 126

Item #  2.



Page 127

Item #  2.



Page 128

Item #  2.



Page 129

Item #  2.



Page 130

Item #  2.



Page 131

Item #  2.



Page 132

Item #  2.



Page 133

Item #  2.



Page 134

Item #  2.



Page 135

Item #  2.



Page 136

Item #  2.



Page 137

Item #  2.



Page 138

Item #  2.



Page 139

Item #  2.



Page 140

Item #  2.



Page 141

Item #  2.



Page 142

Item #  2.



Page 143

Item #  2.



Page 144

Item #  2.



Page 145

Item #  2.



Page 146

Item #  2.



Page 147

Item #  2.



Page 148

Item #  2.



Page 149

Item #  2.



Page 150

Item #  2.



Page 151

Item #  2.



Page 152

Item #  2.



Page 153

Item #  2.



Page 154

Item #  2.



Page 155

Item #  2.



Page 156

Item #  2.



Page 157

Item #  2.



Page 158

Item #  2.



Page 159

Item #  2.



Page 160

Item #  2.



Page 161

Item #  2.



Page 162

Item #  2.



Page 163

Item #  2.



Page 164

Item #  2.



Page 165

Item #  2.



Page 166

Item #  2.



Page 167

Item #  2.



Page 168

Item #  2.



Page 169

Item #  2.



Page 170

Item #  2.



Page 171

Item #  2.



Page 172

Item #  2.



Page 173

Item #  2.



Page 174

Item #  2.



Page 175

Item #  2.



Page 176

Item #  2.



Page 177

Item #  2.



Page 178

Item #  2.



Page 179

Item #  2.



Page 180

Item #  2.



Page 181

Item #  2.



Page 182

Item #  2.



Page 183

Item #  2.



Page 184

Item #  2.



Page 185

Item #  2.



Page 186

Item #  2.



Page 187

Item #  2.



Page 188

Item #  2.



Page 189

Item #  2.



Page 190

Item #  2.



Page 191

Item #  2.



Page 192

Item #  2.



Page 193

Item #  2.



Page 194

Item #  2.



Page 195

Item #  2.



Page 196

Item #  2.



Page 197

Item #  2.



Page 198

Item #  2.



Page 199

Item #  2.



Page 200

Item #  2.



Page 201

Item #  2.



Page 202

Item #  2.



Page 203

Item #  2.



Page 204

Item #  2.



Page 205

Item #  2.



Page 206

Item #  2.



Page 207

Item #  2.



Page 208

Item #  2.



Page 209

Item #  2.



ORDINANCE NO. O-28-2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

FOR ±15 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON 

OFF OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LEONARD C TAYLOR 

PARKWAY AND US 17, IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID NUMBER 016541-

000-00 MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, 

FROM MIXED USE TO INDUSTRIAL; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, 

SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, an application for a large-scale comprehensive plan amendment, as described 

below, to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map has been filed with the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed amendment 

on August 22, 2023 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency 

(LPA) and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing 

concerning the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearings on September 5, 2023 and September 19, 2023 and provided for and 

received public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  

1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  The proposed Future Land Use Map amendment is consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

Page 210

Item #  2.



Ordinance No. O-28-2023 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

3.  The amendment will not cause a reduction in the adopted level of service standards 

for transportation, potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, stormwater, recreation, 

or public schools. 

 

Section 2. Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map Amended.  The 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map is hereby amended from Mixed Use to Industrial on 

Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016541-000-00 in accordance with the legal description found in 

Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 3. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 4. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 5. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 6. Effective Date.  The effective date of this plan amendment, if the 

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 

If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 

agency, or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 

amendment has become effective. 

 

  

Page 211

Item #  2.



Ordinance No. O-28-2023 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 5th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 19TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 212

Item #  2.



Ordinance No. O-28-2023 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 213

Item #  2.

MDaniels
Placed Image



Ordinance No. O-28-2023 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 214

Item #  2.

MDaniels
Placed Image



ORDINANCE NO. O-29-2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA REZONING ±15 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED ON OFF OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER 

OF LEONARD C TAYLOR PARKWAY AND US 17, IDENTIFIED AS 

TAX ID NUMBER 016541-000-00 MORE PARTICULARLY 

DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM C-2, GENERAL BUSINESS TO 

M-2, HEAVY INDUSTRIAL; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, 

SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, an application for a large-scale comprehensive plan amendment, as described 

below, to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map has been filed with the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed amendment 

on August 22, 2023 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency 

(LPA) and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing 

concerning the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearings on September 5, 2023 and September 19, 2023 and provided for and 

received public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended.  The Zoning Map is hereby amended from C-2, 

General Commercial to M-2, Heavy Industrial  on Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016541-000-00 

in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” 

attached hereto. 

Page 215

Item #  2.



 

  

 

 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  The effective date of this plan amendment, if the 

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 

If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 

agency, or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 

amendment has become effective. 

 

  

Page 2 of 5

Ordinance No. O-29-2023 

Page 216

Item #  2.



 

  

 

 

 

     

 

       

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 19TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

  CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

FLORIDA, ON THIS 5th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023.

READING  BY  THE  CITY  COUNCIL  OF  THE  CITY  OF  GREEN  COVE  SPRINGS, 

  INTRODUCED  AND  APPROVED  AS  TO  FORM  ONLY  ON  THE  FIRST 

Page 3 of 5

Ordinance No. O-29-2023

Page 217

Item #  2.



 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A”

Page 4 of 5

Ordinance No. O-29-2023

Page 218

Item #  2.

MDaniels
Placed Image



 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B”

Page 5 of 5

Ordinance No. O-29-2023

Page 219

Item #  2.

MDaniels
Placed Image

MDaniels
Rectangle



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: August 22, 2023 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning for property located at the 

Southeast corner of US 17 and SR 16 for approximately 43.12 acres of a portion of parcel 

#016541-003-00. 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use 

                                                      to:   Industrial  

Zoning Amendment:                    from: C-2, General Commercial  

                                                     to:      M-2, Heavy Industrial 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: David Smith, Louis L Huntley 

Enterprises 
OWNER: Louis Ward Huntley  

PROPERTY LOCATION: 1300 Block of Energy Cove Court 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016451-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-23-005 & ZON-23-0006 

CURRENT ZONING:  C-2 General Commercial  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Mixed Use 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 SOUTH: FLU: INDUSTRIAL (COUNTY) 

Z: Heavy Industrial 

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST: FLU:  MIXED USE REYNOLDS 

PARK 

Z: M-2 

Use: Reynolds Airpark 

WEST: FLU: MIXED USE 

Z: C-2 

Use: Undeveloped 

 

Page 220

Item #  3.



 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Future Land Use and Zoning Change for the subject property for 

the construction of industrial development.  The property includes an extension of the CSX Rail 

line which runs south to north located in the eastern portion of the property.  The rail line is owned 

by the City and is in disrepair.  The applicant has expressed an interest in entering an agreement 

with the City to repair the existing Rail line and add a Railroad spur to serve potential future 

Industrial users on the property.  These actions would require a separate agreement to be approved 

by the City.   

The property is currently undeveloped, The property is sparsely wooded with the exception of the 

area to the east of the railroad tracks which has a thick tree cover.   

The property is surrounded by the HLM property on all sides.  Property access to US 17 is available 

to the west of the subject property which is under the same ownership.    

All proposed new development will be required to meet the City’s Site Development Plan code 

requirements and be submitted to the Planning Commission and City Council for approval. 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be 

served by the City’s sanitation services.  

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following future land use and rezoning requests: 

 

Application # Description 

FLUS-23-005 Future Land Use Application from Mixed Use to Industrial 

ZON-23-006 Rezoning Application from C-2 General Business to M-2 Heavy 

Industrial 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 221

Item #  3.



 

Aerial  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222

Item #  3.



 

Environmental Conditions Analysis  

Maps of Environmental Features 

Wetlands 

There are wetlands located in the northeast area and western portions of the property. 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 223

Item #  3.



 

Floodplain 

A portion of the subject property is located in Flood zone A which are areas subject to inundation 

by the 1 percent annual chance flood event generally determined using approximate methodologies.  

 

 

  

Additional Environmental Issues: 

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) became aware of groundwater 

contamination on the property in July 2015 and subsequently provided a Declaration of Restrictive 

Covenant on the property which was recorded with the Clay County Clerk of Court in March 2020 

and is attached for your review.  Pursuant to FDEP’s investigation chlorinated hydorcarbons were 

detected on the subject property and adjacent property as set forth in Exhibit D of the 1st Amendment 

to the DRCGCS Town Center which is enclosed. In April of 2022, a Conditional Site Rehabilitation 

Completion Order was approved by FDEP that limited the contamination issue to the groundwater.  

As a result, the following improvements are prohibited without meeting the requirements set forth 

in the Completion Order: 

a) Dewatering activities 

Page 224

Item #  3.



b) Stormwater management systems (including swales and ditches) can be 

constructed. 

c) Drinking, irrigation or monitoring well installation.  

 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is located within Zone 4 of the wellfield protection zone. 

 

 
 

 

URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, identifies 

13 primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these 

indicators shall consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features 

and characteristics unique to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop 

as low-intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

 

Page 225

Item #  3.



Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation to Industrial.  

The area along the US 17 and SR 16 Corridors will remain as Mixed Use allowing for a mix of uses 

but at the same time allowing for increased employment opportunities.    

(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas 

at substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are 

available and suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the US 17 Corridor that is currently Land 

Used and Zoned for predominantly commercial/industrial development The project site is located 

within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban service areas. 

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns 

generally emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed Industrial designation allows for industrial uses, thereby 

providing a balance of uses to complement the Mixed Use designation adjacent along the US 17 and 

SR 16 Corridors. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, 

rivers, shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site has existing wetlands, floodplains and is within the wellhead 

protection area.  In order to ensure that natural resources  are protected, a site specific land use 

amendment requiring future development to comply with Development Restrictions regarding 

protecting groundwater.      

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and 

prime farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing 

development, the proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services. 

(VII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, 

money, and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable 

water, sanitary sewer, stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and 

emergency response, and general government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with existing 

public facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and 

services and shall mitigate for the increase in time, money, and energy for providing and maintaining 

these facilities through the payment of impact fees for utilities including roads, government services, 

and on-going ad valorem taxes.   

(VIII) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Page 226

Item #  3.



Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric urban 

service areas and is not adjacent to any rural zoned properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and 

communities.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will not discourage infill development and is 

located within an existing developed area. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located will allow for industrial uses in an area that is 

suitable for industrial development.   

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site shall have access via an easement to SR 16.   

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also 

establishes eight (8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed 

to not be considered urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form 

criteria, and an evaluation of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The 

applicant has provided an analysis of the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the 

application materials, and contends that the proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl 

by showing it meets four of the eight urban form criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the 

community in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources and 

ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the City’s water and sewer and electric 

urban service areas which have been planned to accommodate growth which allows for the 

preservation of the natural resources of outlying areas.  In addition, all new development shall 

comply with the City’s landscaping, tree preservation and resource protection ordinances.    

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and 

services.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will result 

in utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a mix 

of uses at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a multimodal 

transportation system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: Sidewalks are provided along US 17 and shall be provided as part of future 

development along SR 16.    

Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Page 227

Item #  3.



Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

commercial development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in areas 

further outside of the urban areas. 

 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban 

areas reduces the pressure to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: All proposed development shall comply with the City’s landscape 

ordinance to ensure there shall be open space provided within the development.  

7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the 

nonresidential needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of 

nonresidential uses. The proposed development will provide additional employment opportunities 

to the residents of this community, providing a balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing 

or planned development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an 

innovative development pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in s. 

163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the 

Future Land Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate 

use of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and 

welfare of the public. 

Objective 1.1.  New development and Redevelopment shall directed to appropriate areas of the 

City. 

e. Industrial (IND): This FLUC is intended to accommodate primarily light and heavy 

manufacturing, distribution, and storage, in addition to heavy commercial and professional office 

uses. iii. Density: NA iv. Maximum Intensity: 0.6 FAR 

 

Page 228

Item #  3.



Objective 1.2.  The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable land use pattern by preventing the 

proliferation of urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision of services, and implementing smart 

growth principles. 

Policy 1.2.1. The location and timing of new development and the issuance of permits shall be 

coordinated with the availability of public facilities through implementation of various smart 

growth management measures. 

Policy 1.2.6. The City shall require new development to connect to the City’s centralized potable 

water and sanitary sewer system. 

Policy 1.2.7. The City shall condition development orders upon the provision of essential facilities 

and services which meet and would not result in the failure of each service’s established level of 

service (LOS). 

Policy 1.2.8. The City shall ensure the availability and protection of lands designated for the future 

expansion of public infrastructure.  

Objective 1.4.  The City shall strive to preserve its natural resources. 

Policy 1.4.5. Development orders shall not be issued in areas where soils conditions are not adequate 

for building construction, drainage, roads, and other development-related facilities. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital 

Improvements Element to ensure that acceptable traffic conditions are maintained*.  

*The City is in the process of implementing a mobility plan and fee for new development to ensure 

that needed transportation improvements are provided to ensure that the City is addressing 

transportation congestion issues and providing for multimodal improvements.   

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual published 

by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that the 

proposed development will produce or attract. 

 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Objective 4.2.  The City shall continue to provide safe and adequate sanitary sewer service to all 

existing and future developments located within the City limits. Existing Sanitary Sewer 

deficiencies shall be scheduled for correction in the Capital Improvements Element. 

Policy 4.2.1 All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection  

Policy 4.2.1. All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer 

Collection.  

Page 229

Item #  3.



Objective 4.6.  Future Development shall be required to connect with central water systems and 

provide stormwater facilities which maximize the use of existing facilities and discourage urban 

sprawl. 

Policy 4.6.1. The City shall annually monitor the condition of level of service standards for solid 

waste, potable water, wastewater, and stormwater facilities. The Planning and Zoning Department 

shall be assigned the task of reviewing all development orders to determine their current and future 

impacts on the capacities of existing public facilities.  

Policy 4.6.2. No permit shall be issued for new development which will result in an increase in 

demand on deficient capacities or if adequate facility capacities for solid waste, potable water, 

sanitary sewer, and drainage facilities are not available prior to or concurrent with the 

development's impact.  

CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

Policy 5.3.2.  The City shall ensure that public potable water wellfields will be located in areas 

where they will be least impacted by development and contamination. 

Policy 5.4.3. The City shall prohibit development activities that would potentially endanger lives, 

and/or harm property, water quality and quantity. 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COORDINATION ELEMENT 

Objective 7.1.  The City shall act to ensure that all planning and development related activities are 

coordinated with the comprehensive plan or any other plans of Clay County, the Northeast Florida 

Regional Council (NEFRC), and the School Board. 

Policy 7.1.1.  Maintain procedures to review comprehensive plans and comprehensive plan 

amendments of the County and the plans of the Clay County School Board and the Northeast 

Florida Regional Council. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENT 

Policy 9.1.6. Continue collaboration through the Clay County EDC and the Clay County Chamber 

of Commerce with Florida Chamber of Commerce and Enterprise Florida Inc for sector strategy 

development, regional incentive updates and statewide attraction and site selection programs. 

Objective 9.5.  The City shall collaborate economic development efforts with state, regional and 

local partners to foster a system of enhanced communication and partnerships within the Northeast 

Florida region.    F 

PRIVATE PROPERTY RIGHTS ELEMENT 

Objective 10.1.  The City shall recognize that each property owner has constitutionally protected 

private property rights and shall consider these property rights in local decision making by 

referring to a set of statement of rights identified in this element. A 

Policy 10.1.1. The following rights shall be considered in local decision making:  

a. The right of a property owner to physically possess and control his or her interests in the 

property, including easements, leases, or mineral rights.  

b. The right of a property owner to use, maintain, develop, and improve his or her property for 

personal use or for the use of any other person, subject to state law and local ordinances.  

Page 230

Item #  3.



c. The right of the property owner to privacy and to exclude others from the property to protect the 

owner's possessions and property.  

d. The right of a property owner to dispose of his or her property through sale or gift. and discou 

 

 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Industrial 1,105,553 6.83 7,513 .82 902 .85 935 

Shopping 
Center**  

1,843,024 42.70 47,184 .96 1,061 3.71 4,100 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: There are no development plans at this time as a result, the traffic impacts were 

calculated two:  the maximum floor area ratio (1.0)* based on the assumption of a Shopping Center 

at a maximum FAR of 1.0 per the comprehensive plan requirements and a separate calculation was 

made based on a maximum of a .6 FAR for an Industrial Park.  The proposed change in Land Use 

shows a much lower impact on the adjacent roadways.   

 

Potable Water Impacts 

Industrial 

 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                                71,874 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,115,126 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 

 

 
Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential industrial uses.  As shown in the table above, 

there is adequate capacity this use type.  The City has existing water lines installed at this location.     

Page 231

Item #  3.



Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 
Commercial 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2    71,874 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -321,874 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data) 

 
Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential commercial or residential uses.  The project site 

is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the table above, when 

factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to handle the 

estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the Rookery 

Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project.  At such 

time, the Rookery capacity will be served by a new wastewater treatment facility provided by the Clay 

County Utility Authority.  Once the facility is built, the capacity temporarily reserved to the Rookery shall 

be available for this development.  In addition, the remaining demand will be sent via force main to the 

Harbor Road plant, where the City has an excess capacity of approximately 700,000 gallons per day.  As a 

result, there is adequate capacity.  The City has existing sewer lines at this location.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

 

Commercial  

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 None 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs does not provide commercial sanitation services, prospective sanitation collection 

franchisees shall comply with City Code Section 66-10. 
 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a 

minimum of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management 

facility. For commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial 

locations must instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 

Compatibility 

The Subject Property in addition to the companion application (FLUS-23-005 and ZON-23-006) 

are located adjacent to a Mixed Use Land Use District to the north and west, to the south are 

industrial uses located along Hall Park Road and to the east the property is adjacent the Reynolds 

AirPark which is zoned Industrial.  The property line of the proposed request is within 400’ of an 

existing Runway.  The Reynolds Air Park is a private airpark operated by Pegasus Technology, 

Page 232

Item #  3.



Inc., who is a tenant of the landowner, Clay County Port, Inc.  The airpark is not open to the public 

and therefore is not required to have an Airport Master Plan as is required for a Public use airport 

pursuant to Chapter 333 of the Florida Statutes.  Regardless of the fact that the Airpark is a private 

airport, proposed development within that area will be reviewed to ensure compatibility with the 

existing facility.      In addition, the subject property included a Railroad line which is conducive 

for Industrial Development and the adjacent property, the “companion application” had previously 

been used as a Manufacturing facility.  The property along US 17 and SR 16 shall remain as 

commercial properties in keeping with providing a commercial gateway into the City.  As a result, 

the proposed Future Land Use and Zoning application is suitable for the property and compatible 

with the surrounding uses.   

 

Existing Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 233

Item #  3.



Proposed Future Land Use 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 234

Item #  3.



Existing Zoning 
 

  

Page 235

Item #  3.



Proposed Zoning 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 236

Item #  3.



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use designation from Mixed Use to Industrial and 

the Zoning Amendment from C-2, General Commercial to M-2 Heavy Industrial. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use  

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-30-2023, to amend the Future Land Use of 

the property described therein from Mixed Use to Industrial 

 

Zoning 

Recommend to City Council approval of ordinance O-31-2023 to amend the Zoning of the 

property described therein from C-2, General Commercial to M-2 Heavy Industrial.   

 

 

Page 237

Item #  3.



Page 238

Item #  3.



Page 239

Item #  3.



Page 240

Item #  3.



Page 241

Item #  3.



Page 242

Item #  3.



Page 243

Item #  3.



Page 244

Item #  3.



Page 245

Item #  3.



Page 246

Item #  3.



Page 247

Item #  3.



Page 248

Item #  3.



Page 249

Item #  3.



Page 250

Item #  3.



Page 251

Item #  3.



Page 252

Item #  3.



Page 253

Item #  3.



Page 254

Item #  3.



Page 255

Item #  3.



Page 256

Item #  3.



Page 257

Item #  3.



Page 258

Item #  3.



Page 259

Item #  3.



Page 260

Item #  3.



Page 261

Item #  3.



Page 262

Item #  3.



Page 263

Item #  3.



Page 264

Item #  3.



Page 265

Item #  3.



Page 266

Item #  3.



Page 267

Item #  3.



Page 268

Item #  3.



Page 269

Item #  3.



Page 270

Item #  3.



Page 271

Item #  3.



Page 272

Item #  3.



Page 273

Item #  3.



Page 274

Item #  3.



Page 275

Item #  3.



Page 276

Item #  3.



Page 277

Item #  3.



Page 278

Item #  3.



Page 279

Item #  3.



Page 280

Item #  3.



Page 281

Item #  3.



Page 282

Item #  3.



Page 283

Item #  3.



Page 284

Item #  3.



Page 285

Item #  3.



Page 286

Item #  3.



Page 287

Item #  3.



Page 288

Item #  3.



Page 289

Item #  3.



Page 290

Item #  3.



Page 291

Item #  3.



Page 292

Item #  3.



Page 293

Item #  3.



Page 294

Item #  3.



Page 295

Item #  3.



Page 296

Item #  3.



Page 297

Item #  3.



Page 298

Item #  3.



Page 299

Item #  3.



Page 300

Item #  3.



Page 301

Item #  3.



Page 302

Item #  3.



Page 303

Item #  3.



Page 304

Item #  3.



Page 305

Item #  3.



Page 306

Item #  3.



Page 307

Item #  3.



Page 308

Item #  3.



Page 309

Item #  3.



Page 310

Item #  3.



Page 311

Item #  3.



Page 312

Item #  3.



Page 313

Item #  3.



Page 314

Item #  3.



Page 315

Item #  3.



Page 316

Item #  3.



Page 317

Item #  3.



Page 318

Item #  3.



Page 319

Item #  3.



Page 320

Item #  3.



Page 321

Item #  3.



Page 322

Item #  3.



Page 323

Item #  3.



Page 324

Item #  3.



Page 325

Item #  3.



Page 326

Item #  3.



Page 327

Item #  3.



Page 328

Item #  3.



Page 329

Item #  3.



Page 330

Item #  3.



Page 331

Item #  3.



Page 332

Item #  3.



Page 333

Item #  3.



Page 334

Item #  3.



Page 335

Item #  3.



Page 336

Item #  3.



Page 337

Item #  3.



Page 338

Item #  3.



Page 339

Item #  3.



Page 340

Item #  3.



Page 341

Item #  3.



Page 342

Item #  3.



Page 343

Item #  3.



Page 344

Item #  3.



Page 345

Item #  3.



Page 346

Item #  3.



Page 347

Item #  3.



Page 348

Item #  3.



Page 349

Item #  3.



Page 350

Item #  3.



Page 351

Item #  3.



Page 352

Item #  3.



Page 353

Item #  3.



Page 354

Item #  3.



Page 355

Item #  3.



Page 356

Item #  3.



Page 357

Item #  3.



Page 358

Item #  3.



Page 359

Item #  3.



Page 360

Item #  3.



Page 361

Item #  3.



Page 362

Item #  3.



Page 363

Item #  3.



Page 364

Item #  3.



Page 365

Item #  3.



Page 366

Item #  3.



Page 367

Item #  3.



Page 368

Item #  3.



Page 369

Item #  3.



Page 370

Item #  3.



Page 371

Item #  3.



Page 372

Item #  3.



Page 373

Item #  3.



Page 374

Item #  3.



Page 375

Item #  3.



Page 376

Item #  3.



Page 377

Item #  3.



Page 378

Item #  3.



Page 379

Item #  3.



Page 380

Item #  3.



Page 381

Item #  3.



Page 382

Item #  3.



Page 383

Item #  3.



Page 384

Item #  3.



Page 385

Item #  3.



Page 386

Item #  3.



Page 387

Item #  3.



Page 388

Item #  3.



Page 389

Item #  3.



Page 390

Item #  3.



Page 391

Item #  3.



Page 392

Item #  3.



Page 393

Item #  3.



Page 394

Item #  3.



Page 395

Item #  3.



Page 396

Item #  3.



Page 397

Item #  3.



Page 398

Item #  3.



Page 399

Item #  3.



Page 400

Item #  3.



Page 401

Item #  3.



Page 402

Item #  3.



Page 403

Item #  3.



Page 404

Item #  3.



Page 405

Item #  3.



Page 406

Item #  3.



Page 407

Item #  3.



Page 408

Item #  3.



Page 409

Item #  3.



Page 410

Item #  3.



Page 411

Item #  3.



Page 412

Item #  3.



Page 413

Item #  3.



Page 414

Item #  3.



Page 415

Item #  3.



Page 416

Item #  3.



Page 417

Item #  3.



Page 418

Item #  3.



Page 419

Item #  3.



Page 420

Item #  3.



ORDINANCE NO. O-30-2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

FOR ±43.12 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED 

ON OFF OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LEONARD C TAYLOR 

PARKWAY AND US 17, IDENTIFIED AS A PORTION OF TAX ID 

NUMBER 016541-003-00 MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY 

EXHIBIT “A”, FROM MIXED USE TO INDUSTRIAL; PROVIDING 

FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, an application for a large-scale comprehensive plan amendment, as described 

below, to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map has been filed with the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed amendment 

on August 22, 2023 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency 

(LPA) and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing 

concerning the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearings on September 5, 2023 and September 19, 2023 and provided for and 

received public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  

1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

Page 421

Item #  3.



Ordinance No. O-30-2023 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

2.  The proposed Future Land Use Map amendment is consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

3.  The amendment will not cause a reduction in the adopted level of service standards 

for transportation, potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, stormwater, recreation, 

or public schools. 

 

Section 2. Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map Amended.  The 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map is hereby amended from Mixed Use to Industrial on a 

portion of Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016541-003-00 in accordance with the legal description 

found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 3. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 4. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 5. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 6. Effective Date.  The effective date of this plan amendment, if the 

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 

If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 

agency, or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 

amendment has become effective. 

 

 

 

  

 

  

Page 422

Item #  3.



Ordinance No. O-30-2023 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 5th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 19TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 423

Item #  3.



Ordinance No. O-30-2023 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 424

Item #  3.

MDaniels
Placed Image



Ordinance No. O-30-2023 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 425

Item #  3.

MDaniels
Placed Image

MDaniels
Rectangle



ORDINANCE NO. O-31-2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA REZONING ±43.12 ACRES OF REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON OFF OF THE SOUTHEAST 

CORNER OF LEONARD C TAYLOR PARKWAY AND US 17, 

IDENTIFIED AS A PORTION OF TAX ID NUMBER 016541-003-00 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM C-2, 

GENERAL BUSINESS TO M-2, HEAVY INDUSTRIAL; PROVIDING 

FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, an application for a large-scale comprehensive plan amendment, as described 

below, to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map has been filed with the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed amendment 

on August 22, 2023 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency 

(LPA) and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing 

concerning the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearings on September 5, 2023 and September 19, 2023 and provided for and 

received public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended.  The Zoning Map is hereby amended from C-2, 

General Commercial to M-2, Heavy Industrial  on a portion of Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-

Page 426

Item #  3.



 

  

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

  

amendment has become effective.

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 
be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 
agency, or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 
If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 
the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 
amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

Section 5. Effective  Date. The  effective  date  of  this  plan  amendment,  if  the

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid.

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 
of  competent  jurisdiction,  such  holding  of  invalidity  or  unconstitutionality  shall  not  affect  the 
for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 
Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

Section 4. Severability. It  is  the  declared  intent  of  the  City  Council  of  the  City  of

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed.

Section 3. Repealing Clause. All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith

Florida.

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 
construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally. This ordinance shall be liberally

Exhibit “B” attached hereto.

016541-003-00 in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit “A” and map found in 

Page 2 of 5

Ordinance No. O-31-2023

Page 427

Item #  3.



 

  

 

 

 

     

 

       

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 19TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance Butler, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

  CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

FLORIDA, ON THIS 5th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023.

READING  BY  THE  CITY  COUNCIL  OF  THE  CITY  OF  GREEN  COVE  SPRINGS, 

  INTRODUCED  AND  APPROVED  AS  TO  FORM  ONLY  ON  THE  FIRST 

   Page 3 of 5

Ordinance No. O-31-2023 

Page 428

Item #  3.



 

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A”

Page 4 of 5

Ordinance No. O-31-2023

Page 429

Item #  3.

MDaniels
Placed Image



 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B”

Page 5 of 5

Ordinance No. O-31-2023

Page 430

Item #  3.

MDaniels
Placed Image

MDaniels
Rectangle


	Top
	Item #  1.	PZB minutes 72523
	Planning  Zoning Board Meeting Minutes July 25 2023

	Item #  2.	Copy of Copy of Rezoning and Small Scale Land Use Amendment for Parcel 016451-000-00
	FLUS-23-005, ZON23-006_PZB Staff Report
	LLHE FLUS Application REV 07.06.23
	LLHE Rezoning Application REV 07.06.23
	LLHE #996 GCS ALLSTAR Survey (2022)
	2023 05 26 Survey All of GCS Site - LLHE - HLM Rezone Drawn Out
	Original DRC to GCS Town Center
	1st Amend to DRCGCS TownCenter
	2nd Amend to DRCGCS TownCenter
	Conditional Site Rehabilitation Completion Order
	Ordinance O-28-2023 - LsCPA - Huntley
	Ordinance O-292023 -RZ - Huntley

	Item #  3.	Copy of Copy of Rezoning & Small Scale Land Use Amendment for Parcel 016451-003-00
	FLUS-23-006, ZON23-007_PZB Staff Report
	HLM FLUS Application REV 07.06.23
	HLM Rezoning Application REV 07.06.23
	Harold Eiland Map of HLM 43+- acres
	Original DRC to GCS Town Center
	1st Amend to DRCGCS TownCenter
	2nd Amend to DRCGCS TownCenter
	Conditional Site Rehabilitation Completion Order
	Ordinance O-30-2023 -LsCPA- HLM
	Ordinance O-31-2023 -RZ - Huntley

	Bottom

